2005

Joel Sill v. Bill Hart d/b/a Hart Construction : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is plaintiff-counterclaim defendant Joel Sill's appeal from a final judgment entered by the district court after a jury trial on the parties' competing breach-of-contract/unjust enrichment claims and defendant-counterclaimant Bill Hart dba Hart Construction's mechanic's lien foreclosure action. This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal under UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2002).

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review is whether the trial court erred in not dismissing Bill Hart's mechanic's lien foreclosure action based on his failure to comply with UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001) when he served his counterclaim complaint on Sill, and in awarding Hart prejudgment interest and attorney fees in that action.

Sill preserved that issue for review in his post-verdict memorandum responses to Hart's motion for entry of judgment, decree of foreclosure, and award of prejudgment interest, attorney fees and costs (R. 1369-79, 1411-20).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) & (e) (2001)¹:

(a) If a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien filed under this chapter involving a residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, the lien claimant shall include with the service of the complaint on the owner of the residence:

(i) instructions to the owner of the residence relating to the owner's rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act; and

(ii) a form affidavit and motion for summary judgment to enable the owner of the residence to specify the grounds upon which the owner may exercise available rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act.

* * *

(e) If a lien claimant fails to provide the owner of the residence the instructions and form affidavit required by Subsection 4(a), the lien claimant shall be barred from maintaining or enforcing the lien upon the residence.

¹ The version of § 38-1-11, as set forth here, was the version in effect in 2002 when Hart served his counterclaim complaint on Sill. In 2004, the legislature amended that section. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11 (Supp. 2004). None of the amendments, however, is relevant to the issue before this Court, which must only construe the version of Subsection (4) of 38-1-11 that was in place in 2002 (Subsection (4) was enacted in 2001, effective April 30, 2001). Accordingly, all citations to § 38-1-11(4) that appear in this brief are to that version.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

The parties entered into an agreement by which Hart, a general contractor, was to build a home for Sill in The Colony subdivision in White Pine Canyon (“the Project”), and Sill was to pay him for that. The Project was to consist of a main house, an apartment attached to the main house, a garage, and a guesthouse. Hart also was to build a barn for Sill. Hart began construction in June 1999 and continued until approximately November 2001, when he left the job based on a disagreement with Sill concerning completion of the Project. At that point, Sill had paid Hart \$2,598,871. Thereafter, Sill paid others to complete the Project. (R. 1-33, 1050-52).

Sill sued Hart, and Hart counterclaimed. The principal claims advanced by the parties were based in contract, with Sill seeking to recover damages he contended resulted from Hart’s failure to complete the Project as agreed upon by the parties, and Hart counterclaiming for money he alleged Sill still owed him under their agreement. Hart also sued to foreclose on the mechanic’s lien he had filed against Sill’s property. (R. 1-33, 59-81).

The case was tried to a jury, which returned a verdict in favor of Hart of \$314,500.00 on his unjust enrichment and mechanic’s lien claims. Hart sought to reduce the verdict to judgment. Sill opposed that effort in one major respect, arguing that Hart’s mechanic’s lien action was barred (the court lacked jurisdiction to hear it) because Hart had failed to comply with UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001) when

he served his counterclaim complaint on Sill. Sill argued that Hart therefore was not entitled to foreclosure on his mechanic's lien or awards of prejudgment interest and attorney fees, the only basis for awards being the favorable verdict for Hart on his lien foreclosure action. (R. 1244-88, 1369-79, 1411-20).²

The trial court rejected Sill's arguments and entered judgment on the jury's verdict in Hart's favor, including the lien foreclosure action. (Judgment, Addendum 1). The court awarded Hart prejudgment interest and attorney fees under the statutory provision that permits an award of fees to the prevailing party in a mechanic's lien foreclosure action (UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-18(1) (2001)). In rejecting Sill's challenge to the lien action, the court said:

Hart readily admits that he did not serve the papers referenced [in § 38-1-11(4)(a)] on Sill. He also readily admits that he is not entitled to recover either prejudgment interest or attorney's fees on his unjust enrichment claim. But he vigorously disputes the notion that Subsection (4) applies to this dispute.

Both parties acknowledge that Subsection (4) is essentially dispositive of this issue and, therefore, contend that the Subsection's plain and unambiguous language requires the Court to rule in their favor. According to Sill, Hart's filing of his counterclaim constituted "fil[ing] an action to enforce a lien" and triggered the notice obligations set forth in Subsection (4). Not so, according to Hart; Subsection (4) applies, he asserts, only if a lien claimant "files an action" and serves a "complaint" (versus a counterclaim) on a homeowner. Hart is correct.

² The parties had reserved for post-verdict determination any issues concerning Hart's compliance with the statutory requirements for maintaining and enforcing a mechanic's lien. Stipulation on Mechanic's Lien Issues (R. 1050-52).

Memorandum Decision (hereafter “Decision,” copy contained in Addendum 2) at 2-3 (R. 1463-64).

B. Statement of Relevant Facts

It is undisputed that when Hart served his counterclaim complaint³ (setting forth the mechanic’s lien foreclosure action) on Sill in 2002, Hart did not include with the service of the counterclaim the instructions and forms described in UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001). Decision at 2. That is the principal fact relevant to the issue presented for review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001), a provision within Utah’s mechanic’s lien statutes, a lien claimant who files an action against a homeowner to enforce a mechanic’s lien must serve on the owner certain instructions and forms with the complaint that initiates the action. If the lien claimant fails to do that, the claimant is barred from maintaining or enforcing the lien. § 38-1-11(4)(e). In short, Subsection

³ The term “counterclaim complaint” is used throughout this brief to refer to Hart’s pleading containing his mechanic’s lien foreclosure claim (just as that term was used below in Sill’s briefing to the trial court). The courts routinely use “counterclaim complaint” in this fashion. *See, e.g., Berckelely Investment Group, Ltd. v. Colkitt*, 259 F.3d 135, 138 (3rd Cir. 2001) (“Colkitt reasserted those counterclaims not dismissed with prejudice in an amended counterclaim complaint”); *Foundation for Interior Design Educ. Res. v. Savannah College of Art & Design*, 244 F.3d 521, 531 (6th Cir. 2001) (“College alleged in its counterclaim complaint * * *”); *Federal Kemper Life Assur. Co. v. Ellis*, 28 F.3d 1033, 1038 (10th Cir. 1994) (“Defendant then filed a motion for leave to file an answer and amended counterclaim complaint”). The Utah Supreme Court used the term in a recent decision. *Lundahl v. Quinn*, 2003 UT 11, ¶ 1, 67 P.3d 1000 (“she has filed a motion to intervene and an amended counterclaim complaint”).

(4)(a) of 38-1-11 is a jurisdictional provision, and a lien claimant's failure to comply with its requirements deprives a court of jurisdiction to hear the claimant's lien foreclosure action.

In the instant case, Hart, a lien claimant who brought an action to foreclose on the mechanic's lien he had filed against property owned by Sill, did not include the instructions and forms identified in Subsection (4)(a) with the counterclaim complaint (setting forth the lien foreclosure action) he served on Sill. Under the plain language of Subsection (4)(a), Hart was required to do that. The trial court therefore lacked jurisdiction to hear Hart's lien action and should have dismissed it. The court, however, erroneously construed Subsection (4)(a) to not apply to Hart's counterclaim complaint and improperly entered judgment in Hart's favor on the lien action.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the judgment in favor of Hart on the lien action and the awards of prejudgment interest and attorney fees to Hart, the only basis for those awards being the erroneous judgment on the lien action.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in not dismissing – for lack of jurisdiction – Hart's mechanic's lien foreclosure action based on his failure to comply with UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001) when he served his counterclaim complaint on Sill.

A. Standard of Review

The trial court's determination that it had jurisdiction to consider Hart's mechanic's lien foreclosure action presents a question of law; therefore, this Court reviews that decision for correctness, owing the trial court no deference. *State v. Lara*,

2003 UT App 318, ¶ 10, 79 P.3d 951 (“Whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that we review for correctness.”). Further, the trial court’s interpretation of a statute presents a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999).

B. Under the plain language of UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) & (e) (2001), the trial court lacked jurisdiction to consider Hart’s mechanic’s lien foreclosure action; therefore, that action should have been dismissed and Hart’s request for awards of prejudgment interest and attorney fees denied.

The issue on appeal is straightforward: Did the trial court err in concluding that with respect to Hart’s mechanic’s lien foreclosure action, he was not required to comply with UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001) when he served his counterclaim complaint on Sill? The resolution of that issue is critical to determining whether Hart is entitled to recover prejudgment interest and attorney fees, there being no dispute that Hart’s entitlement to both rests on his having a valid lien foreclosure action. In short, if the trial court incorrectly construed § 38-1-11(4)(a) as inapplicable to Hart’s counterclaim complaint, he is not entitled to recover either prejudgment interest or attorney fees.

1. The statutory scheme

To fully understand the issue presented for review, one must first examine the statutory scheme the legislature has adopted with respect to providing homeowners notice of their rights concerning mechanic’s liens against their property. Obviously intending to provide for notice of those rights to a homeowner very early on in the

relationship between a contractor and a homeowner, the legislature enacted the following provision requiring an original contractor to include such notice in the written contract with the owner:

Beginning July 1, 1995, the original contractor or real estate developer shall state in the written contract with the owner what actions are necessary for the owner to be protected under Section 38-11-107 from the maintaining of a mechanic's lien or other civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied residence to recover monies owed for qualified services.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-108(1) (2001).

The legislature's intent to require a contractor to give notice of the statutes providing a homeowner protection from mechanic's liens is further reflected in the lien notice provision, which again requires a contractor, who is filing a mechanic's lien, to inform the homeowner of those statutes:

(2) The notice required by Subsection (1) shall contain a statement setting forth:

* * *

(h) if the lien is on an owner-occupied residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, a statement describing what steps an owner, as defined in Section 38-11-102, may take to require a lien claimant to remove the lien in accordance with Section 38-11-107.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(2)(h) (2001).⁴

⁴ The version of § 38-1-7 in effect at the time Hart filed his lien notice is set forth here. That section was amended in 2004, and Subsection (2)(h) was renumbered (2)(a)(ix). The content of the subsection was not changed. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7 (Supp. 2004).

Finally, the legislature adopted the strictest notice requirement for a lien claimant in a provision addressing the lien claimant's filing of an action against a homeowner to enforce a mechanic's lien:

(a) If a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien filed under this chapter involving a residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, the lien claimant shall include with the service of the complaint on the owner of the residence:

(i) instructions to the owner of the residence relating to the owner's rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act; and

(ii) a form affidavit and motion for summary judgment to enable the owner of the residence to specify the grounds upon which the owner may exercise available rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act.

* * *

(e) If a lien claimant fails to provide the owner of the residence the instructions and form affidavit required by Subsection 4(a), the lien claimant shall be barred from maintaining or enforcing the lien upon the residence.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) & (e) (2001). Subsection (4)(a) requires the lien claimant who sues to enforce the lien to provide the homeowner with certain instructions and forms concerning an owner's rights to removal of the lien under the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act (hereafter "Residence Lien Act"). Subsection (4)(e) makes clear that a lien claimant's failure to provide a homeowner with the "instructions and form affidavit required by Subsection (4)(a)" bars enforcement of the mechanic's lien. That bar to enforcement is jurisdictional,

based on a failure to satisfy a statutory precondition to suit. *See Beaver County v. Utah State Tax Commission*, 919 P.2d 547, 552 (Utah 1996) (whether a statutory procedural requirement is jurisdictional depends on whether it is “mandatory” (jurisdictional) or merely “directory” (not jurisdictional)); *Madsen v. Borthick*, 769 P.2d 245, 249-50 (Utah 1988) (Governmental Immunity Act’s notice requirement for filing suit against a governmental entity is a precondition to suit; failure to satisfy a precondition to suit deprives the trial court of jurisdiction).

As previously noted, in the trial court Sill argued that, under Subsection (4)(e), Hart’s failure to include with the service of his counterclaim complaint the instructions and affidavit referenced in Subsection (4)(a) required dismissal of his lien foreclosure action and denial of his requests for prejudgment interest and attorney fees. Specifically, Sill argued that the commonly accepted definitions of the terms “action” and “complaint,” as used in Subsection (4)(a), include a counterclaim, and thus Hart was required to comply with Subsection (4)(a)’s notice requirements when he served his counterclaim complaint on Sill. The trial court disagreed.

2. The plain meaning of the terms “action” and “complaint,” and the purpose of Subsection (4)(a)

The trial court rejected Sill’s argument concerning Subsection (4)(a) on the ground that the term “complaint,” as used in that provision, is not reasonably interpreted to include a counterclaim. It reasoned:

The plain language of Subsection (4) compels the conclusion that the Utah Legislature limited the obligation of a lien claimant to serve a

homeowner with the materials referenced in Subsection (4)(a) to those instances in which the lien claimant was initiating an action through service of a complaint and not a counterclaim. First, while “[t]he word ‘action’ without more is arguably broad enough to encompass any type of judicial proceeding, including counterclaims” (*Local Union No. 38, Sheet Metal Workers’ Int’l v. Pelella*, 350 F.3d 73, 81 (2nd Cir. 2003) (citations omitted)), read in the context of Subsection (4), it is qualified by the reference to “service of the complaint.” Second, this reference to a complaint is to a pleading that is filed at the commencement of a lawsuit and that is commonly understood to be distinct from a counterclaim. See, e.g., *Local Union No. 38, Sheet Metal Workers’ Int’l v. Pelella*, 350 F.3d at 82; see also Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 3 (“A civil action is commenced (1) by filing of a complaint . . . , or (2) by service of a summons together with a copy of the complaint”) & 7(a) (distinguishing a complaint from other pleadings). Third, had the Legislature intended Sill’s construction, it could have easily provided for it (e.g., by substituting the words “initial pleading” for “complaint” in Subsection (4)(a)).

Decision at 3 (footnotes omitted).

Relying heavily on the Second Circuit’s 2-1 decision in *Local Union No. 38, Sheet Metal Workers Int’l v. Pelella*, 350 F.3d 73 (2nd Cir. 2003), the court concluded that a narrow construction of the term “complaint” (not to include a counterclaim) is in harmony with the mechanic’s lien statutes “general purpose * * * ‘to provide protection to those who enhance the value of a property by supplying labor or materials,’”

Decision at 4 (quoting *AAA Fencing Company v. Raintree Development and Energy Company*, 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1986)). The court believed “Sill’s construction [of ‘complaint’] is contrary to the lien law’s overarching purpose.” *Id.* at 5 n.9. Citing the majority opinion in *Pelella*, the court also found, as additional support for its narrow interpretation of “complaint,” that “the concerns that Subsection (4) guard

against are lessened when the homeowner has demonstrated a certain familiarity with the legal process by instituting suit against a lien claimant.” *Id.* at 4 n.5.

The problems with the trial court’s analysis begin with its notion that the requirements of Subsection (4)(a) are somehow tempered by the mechanic’s lien statutes’ “overarching purpose” to protect those who have enhanced the value of a property by supplying materials or labor. While that purpose is clear, it does not permit a court or a lien claimant to ignore prominent procedural requirements within the statutory scheme that plainly are intended to provide protection for the homeowner as opposed to the lien claimant. *See First General Services v. Perkins*, 918 P.2d 480, 486 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (“Of course, ‘compliance with the [mechanics’ lien] statute is required before a party is entitled to the benefits created by the statute.’” (quoting *AAA Fencing Company v. Raintree Development and Energy Company*, 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1986))). Those requirements are noted above, and Subsection (4)(a) undeniably falls into the category of provisions intended to protect the homeowner from an improper mechanic’s lien through a requirement that the lien claimant inform the owner of rights under the Residence Lien Act when a lien enforcement action is initiated. The clear purpose of (4)(a) is to ensure that when a lien claimant sues a homeowner to enforce a lien, the owner is fully informed of those rights.

The trial court narrowly interpreted the term “complaint” in Subsection (4)(a) to mean only an initial complaint filed by a lien claimant as a plaintiff, and not to include a lien claimant’s counterclaim complaint filed in response to an owner’s suit against the

lien claimant. To accept the court's narrow interpretation of "complaint," one must necessarily accept the following odd, and ultimately unreasonable, conclusion: The legislature, concerned about protecting a homeowner's rights, intended to require a lien claimant to inform the homeowner of rights under the Residence Lien Act at the contracting stage (§ 38-11-108(1)), at the notice-of-lien stage (§ 38-1-7(2)(h)), and finally at the litigation stage (§ 38-1-11(4)(a)) when the lien claimant sues the homeowner – but only if the lien claimant brings the lien enforcement action as an original plaintiff rather than as a counterclaimant. That construction, which as explained below is not in harmony with the commonly accepted meaning of the terms "action" and "complaint" and the context in which they are used in Subsection (4)(a), defeats the obvious purpose of Subsection (4)(a) – that is, to ensure that a homeowner is informed of the Residence Lien Act rights at the time a lien claimant sues to enforce a mechanic's lien. It is illogical to conclude that the legislature, with that protective purpose in mind, intended to draw a distinction between a lien enforcement action brought in an original complaint filed by the lien claimant as a plaintiff and the very same action brought by the lien claimant in a counterclaim. The owner is in precisely the same position in each scenario: the defendant in an action brought by the lien claimant to enforce a mechanic's lien.

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