2005

Joel Sill v. Bill Hart, d/b/a Hart Construction : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court correctly interpreted Subsection (4)(a) as being inapplicable to Hart on the facts of this case, and this Court should uphold the trial court's Decision and Order. Subsection (4)(a), on its face, specifically and expressly applies only "if" the lien claimant "files an action" and serves a "complaint" on a homeowner to foreclose a mechanics' lien. In this case it was Sill who filed the action and served a complaint upon Hart. As the defendant in the case, Hart obviously never filed or served any complaint on Sill. Rather, Hart's mechanics' lien foreclosure is instead a part of Hart's Counterclaim. On its face, therefore, Subsection (4)(a)'s requirement of service of certain instructions and forms with a "complaint" when a lien claimant "files an action" expressly does not apply to this case. Sill's arguments for application of Subsection (4)(a) to the facts of this case depend upon and require linguistic contortions by this Court of the clear and plain language of the statute as chosen and drafted by the Legislature. Such distortions are inappropriate and in derogation of established rules of statutory construction.

Additionally, the contorted reading of Subsection (4)(a) that Sill asks the Court to adopt would be of absolutely no benefit to him in any event. The instructions and forms referenced in Subsection (4)(a) of Utah's mechanics' lien statutes, and that Sill argues should have been served on him, relate solely to rights available to certain homeowners in certain circumstances under the Lien Recovery Fund Act. In this case, however, Sill admittedly and indisputably has no rights at all under the Lien Recovery Fund Act. To begin with, the Lien Recovery Fund Act only protects homeowners from liens of subcontractors – not original general contractors – and Sill admits that Hart was not a

subcontractor, but rather the general contractor with whom he had contracted directly. Moreover, the Lien Recovery Fund Act protects homeowners (from liens and claims of subcontractors only) only after the homeowner has paid the general contractor in full, which Sill did not do. Sill therefore fails the requirements of the Lien Recovery Fund Act and has no rights under it. Since Subsection (4)(a) relates only to service of instructions and forms relating to the homeowner's rights under the Lien Recovery Fund Act, and since Sill has no such rights of any kind in this case, Subsection (4)(a) does not require service of the referenced instructions and forms in this case which simply do not apply and would be of no value or benefit to Sill whatsoever.

This Court also should uphold the trial court's interpretation of Subsection (4)(a) because it is in harmony with, and should reject Sill's desired interpretation which is contrary to, the long-recognized legislative purpose of the mechanics' lien statutes to protect those such as Hart who perform work upon and provide improvements to real property. Sill's argument for application of Subsection (4)(a) as an impediment to Hart's lien claims in this case is contrary to the very language of Subsection (4)(a) itself, and to the mechanics' lien laws generally, all in an attempt to gain a windfall for himself in the form of a luxury home built by Hart without fully paying for it and the attorney fees and costs that Hart has had to expend attempting to collect the amounts due and owing to him by virtue of Sill's refusal to pay.² This Court should not reward Sill with such a windfall

² Recovery of attorney's fees is vitally important to the mechanic's lien scheme. "The purpose of the mechanic's lien is to protect those whose labor or materials have enhanced the value of property. [The attorney fee provision of the mechanic's lien statutes] strengthens that protection by ensuring that someone who successfully uses a

to Hart's substantial detriment, and indeed cannot as a matter of law under the express language as well as the legislative history of the statutes. This Court should instead uphold the trial court's Decision and Order declaring Subsection (4)(a) inapplicable, and otherwise not any bar, to Hart's mechanics' lien foreclosure Counterclaim herein.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT SUBSECTION (4)(a) HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE.

A. The Plain Language of Subsection (4)(a) On Its Face Does Not Apply to Hart's Counterclaim Filed In This Case

This Court should affirm the trial court's well-reasoned Memorandum Decision ruling that Hart was not subject to any requirement to serve any instructions or forms under Subsection (4)(a) because the plain language of Subsection (4)(a) simply does not apply to the admitted facts of this case.

At the time Sill initiated this action by filing his complaint, Subsection (4)(a) read as follows:

(4) (a) If a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien filed under this chapter involving a residence ... the lien claimant shall include with the service of the complaint on the owner of the residence:

(i) instructions to the owner of the residence relating to the owner's rights under [the] Lien Recovery Fund Act; and

mechanic's lien to enforce a payment obligation for such enhancement will not ultimately bear the legal costs of that enforcement action. It also functions as a penalty for one who wrongly fails to pay for enhancement to his property.” *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy, supra*, 2004 UT 47, ¶ 24, 94 P.3d 270, 276.

- (ii) a form affidavit and motion for summary judgment to enable the owner of the residence to specify the grounds upon which the owner may exercise available rights under [the] Lien Recovery Fund Act. [Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11 (2001) (emphasis added)].

On its face, Subsection (4)(a) specifically, clearly, and expressly applies only “if” the lien claimant “files an action” and serves a “complaint” on a homeowner to foreclose a mechanics’ lien. On its face, therefore, Subsection (4)(a) simply does not apply to this case in which it is Sill, the homeowner, who is the plaintiff that filed the action and served a complaint. As the defendant, Hart obviously never served a complaint on Sill. Rather, Hart’s pleading was an answer that included a compulsory counterclaim to foreclose his mechanic’s lien. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 7(a)³; Utah R. Civ. P. 13(a).⁴

It is well-settled that when interpreting a statute the court must interpret the actual words appearing on the face of the statute itself, according to their plain and ordinary meaning, and that the court may “look beyond the plain language only if [it] find[s] some ambiguity.” *State v. Burgess–Beynon*, 2004 UT App 312, 99 P. 3d 383. When faced with questions of statutory construction, courts must presume “that each term in the

³ Utah R. Civ. P. 7(a) states:

(a) *Pleadings*. There shall be complaint and an answer; a reply to a counterclaim; an answer to a cross-claim, if the answer contains a cross-claim; a third-party complaint, if a person who was not an original party is summoned under the provisions of Rule 14; and a third-party answer, if a third-party complaint is served. **No other pleading shall be allowed**, except that the court may order a reply to an answer or a third-party answer. (emphasis added)

⁴ Utah R. Civ. P. 13(a) states in relevant part:

(a) *Compulsory counterclaims*. **A pleading shall state as a counterclaim** any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject-matter of the opposing party’s claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction. (emphasis added)

statute was used advisedly.” *Gillman v. Sprint Comm. Co., L.P.*, 91 P.3d 858, 860 (Utah Ct. App. 2004). Also, “any interpretation which renders parts or words in a statute inoperative or superfluous is to be avoided.” *Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277, 282 (Utah 2000).

The Utah Legislature was very precise when it designated only one of the six pleadings allowed under Utah R. Civ. P. 7(a) (*i.e.*, a complaint) as being subject to the requirements of Subsection (4)(a). The Legislature could easily have required that the instructions and summary judgment forms referred to in Subdivision 4(a) be served with “the complaint or the answer containing a counterclaim,” or simpler yet, the Legislature could have used the term “pleading” or “initial pleading,” instead of “complaint.” It did not. Rather, it specifically and expressly referred exclusively to a “complaint” as the pleading with which certain summary judgment instructions and forms must be served.⁵ The trial court rightly concluded, therefore, that the Legislature meant what it said in Subsection (4)(a) and used the term “complaint” purposefully and advisedly in limiting the types of “an action” in which a lien claimant is required to serve the referenced summary judgment instructions and forms upon a homeowner.

⁵ The existence of Utah Code Sec. 78-7-35 confirms unequivocally that the Legislature knows there are various different types of pleadings that may be filed in a lawsuit. That statute separately delineates the filing fees that apply to a “complaint,” and to a “counterclaim,” “crossclaim,” “complaint in intervention,” and “third party complaint.” This confirms that the Legislature’s exclusive reference to the filing of a “complaint” in Subsection (4)(a) was purposeful, and must be respected and enforced by the Court. *See e.g., State v. Hobbs*, 64 P.3d 1218, 1222 (Utah Ct. App. 2003) (in statutory construction the expression of one thing implies the exclusion of another, and omissions in statutory language must be taken note of and given effect); *Sorenson’s Ranch School v. Oram*, 36 P.3d 528, 531 (Utah Ct. App. 2001) (same).

Any interpretation of Subsection (4)(a) that would broaden its application beyond cases in which the lienholder itself first files the action and serves a “complaint” on the homeowner renders the Legislature’s careful wording inoperative and meaningless. Since Subsection (4)(a) on its face expressly applies only when a lienholder first files an action and serves the homeowner with a “complaint,” and since neither of these things occurred in this case, Subsection (4)(a) does not apply to Hart’s mechanic’s lien foreclosure Counterclaim. This Court should therefore uphold the trial court’s ruling.

i. None of Sill’s arguments make Hart’s Counterclaim into a “complaint” that would be subject to Subsection (4)(a)

In trying to make the square peg of this case fit into the round hole of Subsection (4)(a), Sill tries several ways to make Hart’s Counterclaim appear to be a “complaint.” In addition to being contrary to the plain language of Subsection (4)(a) itself and all of the rules of statutory construction noted above, each of Sill’s arguments also fails for the reasons discussed below.

a. There is no such thing as a “counterclaim complaint”

Sill first tries to satisfy Subsection (4)(a) by repeatedly referring to Hart’s Counterclaim as a “counterclaim complaint.” Use of the term “counterclaim complaint” was a tactic that Sill attempted without avail in his memoranda filed with the trial court. There is no such thing, however, as a “counterclaim complaint.” Rule 7(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure (both state and federal) define the various types of pleadings that exist

in civil matters. There is no mention of any such thing as a “counterclaim complaint” in those rules, which conclude by stating “[n]o other pleading shall be allowed.” *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 7(a); Fed. R. Civ. P. 7(a).

Sill cites four cases in support of his claim that the term “counterclaim complaint” nevertheless is “routine”: *Berkeley Investment Group, Ltd. v. Colkitt*, 259 F.3d 135, 138 (3rd Cir. 2001); *Foundation for Interior Design Educ. Res. v. Savannah College of Art & Design*, 244 F.3d 521, 531 (6th Cir. 2001); *Federal Kemper Life Assur. Co. v. Ellis*, 28 F.3d 1033, 1038 (10th Cir. 1994); *Lundahl v. Quinn*, 2003 UT 11, ¶ 1, 67 P.3d 1000.

Aside from the fact that four isolated references to the use of such term in courts throughout the entire country is hardly “routine,” none of Sill’s four cited cases is of any avail to him in any event because there was no substantive significance attached by those courts to their occasional loose use of the term “counterclaim complaint.” Certainly none of those cases dealt with Subsection (4)(a) which is at issue in this case, nor even involved any statutory language expressly referring specifically and only to a “complaint” as a document triggering application of certain statutory requirements, as Subsection (4)(a) does.

This Court should not use a made up term like “counterclaim complaint,” whether use of such a term is “routine” outside of the mechanics’ lien context or not, to circumvent the express language of Subsection (4)(a), and its direct and specific reference to a “complaint” as the exclusive pleading with which various other forms must in certain cases be served on a homeowner. To do so would render the Legislature’s use of the term “complaint” in

Subsection (4)(a) meaningless, “inoperative or superfluous [and] is to be avoided.” *See e.g., Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277, 282 (Utah 2000).

b. The *American Rural* interpretation of “action” under 38-1-18 does not apply to the fundamentally different language of Subsection (4)(a)

Sill also argues that bringing a counterclaim is the same thing as filing an action and serving a complaint for purposes of Subsection (4)(a). Sill purportedly bases that argument upon the statement in *American Rural Cellular, Inc. v. Systems Comm. Corp.*, 939 P.2d 185 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), that “a counterclaim to foreclose [a] mechanics’ lien ... clearly qualifies as ‘an action brought to enforce any lien’ under the mechanics’ lien statute.” (Sill’s Brief, p. 15 (citing *American Rural*, 939 P.2d at 193). From that Sill argues the Legislature must have intended to adopt the *American Rural* interpretation of “action” as including a counterclaim when it used the word “action” in Subsection (4)(a) that was enacted four years after the *American Rural* decision. (Sill’s Brief, p. 15). However, Sill’s argument is fatally flawed because of, and indeed is contradicted by, the striking difference in the statutory provision at issue in *American Rural* and what the Legislature later said in Subsection (4)(a).

The statute at issue in *American Rural* was Utah Code Section 38-1-18, regarding awards of attorney fees. At the time of the *American Rural* decision, that provision stated, in its entirety:

In any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys’ fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as a cost in the action. (Emphasis added).

The expansive language of section 38-1-18 allowing fees to the prevailing party “in any action brought” is markedly different than the conditional and restrictive Subsection (4)(a), which states that certain forms and instructions are to be served only “if” the lien claimant “files an action” and serves a “complaint” on the homeowner. The fact that in Subsection (4)(a) the Legislature chose to have that provision apply only in certain limited circumstances “if” certain facts are present is a major distinction from section 38-1-18 which the Legislature stated applies in “any” action.⁶ Most importantly, however, is Subsection (4)(a)’s statement of what must be present for it to apply – specifically, the lien claimant must be the one who “files an action” and serves a “complaint.” “Filing” an “action” is different than “bringing” a counterclaim, as shown unequivocally by the Legislature’s use in Subsection (4)(a) of the term “complaint.” The addition of that qualifying term shows the Legislature’s intent to distinguish and limit the term “action” as used in Subsection (4)(a) from the expansive definition that applies under 38-1-18 as interpreted for that section by the *American Rural* decision. Had the Legislature intended that same expansive definition to apply under Subsection (4)(a), it would have left the term “action” unconditioned and unqualified as it did in 38-1-18; it

⁶ Sill argues that the *American Rural* Court placed no significance on the word “any” in the language of section 38-1-18. He focuses on the fact that the *American Rural* Court said that a counterclaim “clearly qualifies as ‘an action brought to enforce any lien’ under the mechanics’ lien statute.” (Sill’s Brief, p. 19 (quoting *American Rural*, 939 P.2d at 193 (emphasis added by Sill)). Sill’s argument is an attempted distinction without a difference, since the Court’s ruling in *American Rural* was interpreting the language of 38-1-18, which at the time, as it does now, referred to “any action.”

would not have added to Subsection (4)(a) the conditional term “if” and the limiting and qualifying reference to a “complaint.”

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